**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

RECEIVED

May 12 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-26-05573
Court of Appeals Case No. 2018-002009
Unpublished Opinion No. 2021-UP-454 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 22, 2021)
Supreme Court Case No. 2022-000498

K.A. Diehl and Associates, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

James Perkins, Colleen Franke a/k/a Colleen Franke Perkins,
Mark Dos Santos, William Moore, Steven Dame
and Errol Dos Santos,

Defendants,

Of whom Mark Dos Santos is the

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
D. Jay Davis Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

In this appeal, Mr. dos Santos challenges the trial court’s enforcement of a settlement agreement. In pertinent part, Rule 43(k), SCRCP, provides that a settlement agreement is not binding “unless . . . reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel.” Mr. dos Santos contends the settlement agreement does not comply with Rule 43(k), and is therefore unenforceable, because he, a party, did not personally sign it; however, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s enforcement of the settlement agreement, ruling that it sufficed to comply with Rule 43(k) for Mr. dos Santos’s attorney to sign the settlement agreement on his behalf.

The following questions are thus presented to this Court:

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court’s enforcement of the settlement agreement?**
 - A. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that it sufficed to comply with Rule 43(k) for Mr. dos Santos’s attorney to sign the settlement agreement on his behalf?²**
 - B. Even on its own terms (i.e., even assuming, *arguendo*, its view of Rule 43(k) does not erroneously vitiate the plain and mandatory terms of the rule, as is raised/argued via Question/Argument I.A.), did the Court of Appeals misapply the authorities it cited regarding the ability of one person to sign for another?**

² To be clear, this question, and the corresponding argument below, includes Mr. dos Santos’s challenge to the proposition that it sufficed to comply with Rule 43(k) for his attorney to sign the settlement agreement on his behalf because his attorney supposedly had his permission to do so and to the proposition that it sufficed to comply with Rule 43(k) for his attorney to sign the settlement agreement on his behalf because of any agency relationship attendant to the attorney-client relationship.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

K.A. Diehl³ is in the business of providing management services to community associations like Ocean Front Spa, which is a Myrtle Beach condominium community located within the larger community known as Myrtle Beach Resort. (See R. p. 38 ¶ 1.) Unit ownership in Ocean Front Spa comes with membership in both the Myrtle Beach Resort, Ocean Front Spa Horizontal Property Regime, Inc., and its master association, the Myrtle Beach Resort Homeowners Association, Inc. (collectively, the “Associations”). (See R. p. 39 ¶¶ 2–8, pp. 64–65 ¶¶ 96–100, pp. 94:24–95:7.) K.A. Diehl was the management company for the Associations. (See R. p. 38 ¶ 1, pp. 65–67 ¶¶ 101–115.)

K.A. Diehl filed this lawsuit against a number of Ocean Front Spa unit owners, i.e., Defendants⁴, on July 23, 2015, in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas. (See generally R. pp. 36–52.) Describing the suit as having “arise[n] out of the Defendants’ defamatory statements and unlawful conduct against [it] related to its management of the [Associations] . . . ,”⁵ K.A. Diehl asserted claims against Defendants for defamation, tortious interference with a contractual relationship,

³ “K.A. Diehl” is Plaintiff/Respondent, K.A. Diehl and Associates, Inc.

⁴ “Defendants” refers, collectively, to Mr. dos Santos and the other defendants identified in the above caption.

⁵ (R. p. 39 ¶ 9.)

intentional interference with prospective contractual relations, and civil conspiracy, seeking both monetary and injunctive relief. (*See generally* R. pp. 38–52.)

Defendants denied K.A. Diehl’s material allegations and counterclaimed for abuse of process, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (the “UTPA”), civil conspiracy, breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, and fraud. (*See generally* R. pp. 53–88.)

In addition to, and separate from, their counterclaims in the instant case (which is the only case involved in this appeal), Defendants asserted claims relating to their ownership in Ocean Front Spa/membership in the Associations in four other lawsuits they themselves commenced in Horry County in 2016: Cases No. 2016-CP-26-00673 and -00674, asserting class claims, and Cases No. 2016-CP-26-00743 and -00744, asserting derivative claims (collectively, the “2016 Cases”). (*See* R. pp. 118–119.)

Mediation was held in all five cases, i.e., in the instant case and in the four 2016 Cases, on May 1, 2017. (*See* R. pp. 115–117, p. 119.) It went forward despite the known absence of several parties and adjusters involved in the cases, most notably Mr. dos Santos, who could be reached by telephone but was not physically present. (*See* R. p. 119.)

Mediation concluded at about 11:45 p.m. with an alleged written settlement agreement that was only actually signed by the following parties: K.A. Diehl (by its

president), James Perkins, Colleen Franke, Nancy Moore, and Errol dos Santos. Neither Mr. dos Santos nor Steven Dame actually signed the settlement agreement, but attorneys purportedly signed for them. (*See* R. p. 100:18–24, pp. 119–120, pp. 126–128.) Mr. dos Santos did not receive a copy of the agreement until sometime after mediation.

On October 18, 2017, K.A. Diehl moved to enforce the settlement agreement. (*See generally* R. pp. 118–273.) The attorneys who had represented Mr. dos Santos at mediation were relieved as counsel and, through new counsel,⁶ Mr. dos Santos opposed K.A. Diehl’s motion. (*See generally* R. pp. 15–16, pp. 281–290.)⁷

The motion came on for hearing in the trial court on March 12, 2018, the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. presiding. (*See generally* R. pp. 89–107.) After first filing a form order on March 19, 2018, indicating that it had decided the matter in K.A. Diehl’s favor and that a formal order would follow,⁸ the trial court granted K.A. Diehl’s motion to enforce the settlement agreement by formal order filed March 21, 2018. (R. pp. 12–32.)

On March 31, 2018, Mr. dos Santos timely moved the trial court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRC. (R. pp. 12–

⁶ (*See generally* R. pp. 6–11, pp. 274–280.)

⁷ Of Defendants, only Mr. dos Santos opposed the motion.

⁸ (R. pp. 9–11.)

32, pp. 281–301.) The trial court heard the motion on October 8, 2018,⁹ and thereafter denied it by order filed October 9, 2018. (R. pp. 33–35.)

This appeal timely followed by notice served November 8, 2018,¹⁰ and in due course, it was fully briefed and made ready for decision by the Court of Appeals. (*See generally* Final Brief of Appellant; Final Brief of Respondent; Final Reply Brief of Appellant; Appellant’s Supplemental Citation, submitted October 27, 2020.)

On November 15, 2021, K.A. Diehl moved the Court of Appeals to dismiss the appeal and Mr. dos Santos’s remaining counterclaims. (Mot. to Dismiss the Appeal and Counterclaims.) Citing the fact that Mr. dos Santos had sold his unit in Ocean Front Spa in or about March 2021, K.A. Diehl argued that, even if Mr. dos Santos were successful in this appeal, he lacked standing to pursue his remaining claims against K.A. Diehl. (*See* Mot. to Dismiss the Appeal and Counterclaims.)

Mr. dos Santos responded in opposition to K.A. Diehl’s motion, arguing that he had two remaining counterclaims against K.A. Diehl, civil conspiracy and violation of the UTPA; that he still has standing to pursue them; and that, in any event, he has standing to vindicate himself by successfully defending against and defeating the claims he believes K.A. Diehl has wrongfully asserted against him this action—and indeed that he must do so if he is to try to hold K.A. Diehl accountable

⁹ (*See generally* R. pp. 108–114.)

¹⁰ (R. pp. 302–306.)

for what he believes is its malicious prosecution of this action. (*See* Appellant’s Return to Respondent’s Mot. to Dismiss the Appeal and Counterclaims.)

The Court of Appeals denied K.A. Diehl’s motion by order filed December 22, 2021. (Court of Appeals Order Denying K.A. Diehl’s Mot. to Dismiss the Appeal and Counterclaims.)

Also on December 22, 2021, however, the Court of Appeals filed the Subject Opinion, affirming the trial court as modified. Although it agreed with Mr. dos Santos that the trial court erred in holding that Rule 43(k) did not apply to the settlement agreement,¹¹ the Court of Appeals nonetheless affirmed the trial court’s enforcement of the settlement agreement, disagreeing with Mr. dos Santos’s argument that the settlement agreement was not executed in compliance with Rule 43(k) because he did not personally sign it. Noting that one of Mr. dos Santos’s attorneys signed his (Mr. dos Santos’s) name on the settlement agreement followed by the words “with permission,” and stating that Mr. dos Santos had “provided no evidence [that] his attorney signed [his] name on the Agreement without [his] permission during the mediation,” the Court of Appeals cited a string of authorities supposedly supporting its conclusion that the signing of Mr. dos Santos’s name on the settlement agreement by someone else with permission (i.e., someone who is not

¹¹ It was in this respect that the Court of Appeals modified the trial court’s decision.

Mr. dos Santos but is said to have Mr. dos Santos's permission) satisfies Rule 43(k)'s mandate that the settlement agreement be signed by "the part[y]," i.e., by Mr. dos Santos. Moreover, citing *Crim v. E.F. Hutton, Inc.*, 298 S.C. 448, 450, 381 S.E.2d 492, 493 (1989), for the proposition that "[t]he authorized acts of an agent are binding on the principal," the Court of Appeals supported its affirmance of the trial court's enforcement of the settlement agreement on the additional ground that Rule 43(k)'s mandate that the settlement agreement be signed by "the part[y]," i.e., by Mr. dos Santos, was satisfied because his attorney had actual authority as an agent to sign the settlement agreement on his behalf.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal centers on the interpretation of Rule 43(k), which is a pure question of law that is subject to de novo review. *See Fairchild v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 398 S.C. 90, 108, 727 S.E.2d 407, 416 (2012) (citing *Muci v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 478 Mich. 178, 732 N.W.2d 88, 93 (2007) (“The interpretation of court rules and statutes presents an issue of law that is reviewed de novo.”)).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court’s enforcement of the settlement agreement.

A. The Court of Appeals erred in ruling that it sufficed to comply with Rule 43(k) for Mr. dos Santos’s attorney to sign the settlement agreement on his behalf.

“In interpreting the meaning of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court applies the same rules of construction used to interpret statutes.” *Fairchild v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 398 S.C. 90, 107, 727 S.E.2d 407, 416 (2012) (quoting *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 620, 591 S.E.2d 26, 27 (2003). “If a rule’s language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary and the stated meaning should be enforced.” *Id.* at 108–09, 727 S.E.2d at 416 (quoting *Maxwell*, 356 S.C. at 620, 591 S.E.2d at 27); *see also Stark Truss Co. v. Superior Constr. Corp.*, 360 S.C. 503, 508, 602 S.E.2d 99, 102 (Ct. App. 2004) (stating where the language of a court rule is clear and unambiguous, the court is obligated to follow its plain and ordinary meaning without resort to forced construction to limit or expand the rule). “Statutes, as a whole, must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation, consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers.” *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 331 S.C. 611, 624, 503 S.E.2d 471, 478 (1998). An appellate court will reject the interpretation of a statute that would lead to an absurd result the legislature could not have intended. *Lancaster Cnty. Bar Ass’n v. S.C. Comm’n on Indigent Def.*, 380 S.C. 219, 222, 670

S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008). “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). The best evidence of legislative intent is the text of the statute. *Wade v. State*, 348 S.C. 255, 259, 559 S.E.2d 843, 844 (2002).

For there to be a binding settlement agreement, there must be strict compliance with Rule 43(k)—substantial compliance is not sufficient. As this Court has explained, the terms of Rule 43(k) are plain¹² and mandatory,¹³ their intended purpose is “to prevent disputes as to the *existence* and terms of agreements regarding pending litigation,”¹⁴ and they cannot be vitiated by turning to contract or equitable principles (or counter public policy arguments); nor by substantial compliance. *Id.* at 521, 846 S.E.2d at 867 (“Where Rule 43(k) applies, this Court has held its terms are mandatory, which precludes a party from turning to contract or equitable principles (or counter public policy arguments) to vitiate those terms. Substantial compliance is not sufficient. The purpose of Rule 43(k) and its predecessors is the avoidance of uncertainty.”).

¹² *Farnsworth v. Davis Heating & Air Conditioning, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 634, 638, 627 S.E.2d 724, 726 (2006) (“[Rule 43(k)] is plainly worded: “No agreement . . . shall be binding unless” one of the . . . requirements is met.”).

¹³ *Buckley v. Shealy*, 370 S.C. 317, 322, 635 S.E.2d 76, 78 n.2 (2006) (“Rule 43(k)’s terms are mandatory . . .”).

¹⁴ *S.C. Human Affairs Comm’n v. Chen*, 430 S.C. 509, 519, 846 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2020) (emphasis added).

It does not suffice to comply with Rule 43(k) for Mr. dos Santos’s attorney to sign the settlement agreement on his behalf because he supposedly had Mr. dos Santos’s permission to do so. Proper Rule 43(k) analysis leaves no room for any consideration of whether Mr. dos Santos’s name was signed on the settlement agreement with or without permission. To impose any evidentiary burden on Mr. dos Santos (or even engage in any inquiry) in this regard would plainly frustrate the clarifying purpose (the avoidance of uncertainty) that Rule 43(k) seeks achieve (the requirements of rule being designed to eliminate the need disputes as to the existence of settlement agreements). Moreover, even assuming, *arguendo*, that Mr. dos Santos’s name was signed on the settlement agreement with permission, to allow such surrogacy to satisfy Rule 43(k) is to turn to improper principles to vitiate the “mandatory”¹⁵ nature of its terms. *Chen*, 430 S.C. at 521, 846 S.E.2d at 866.

It does not suffice to comply with Rule 43(k) for Mr. dos Santos’s attorney to sign the settlement agreement on his behalf because of any agency relationship attendant to the attorney-client relationship. The language in Rule 43(k) allowing for a settlement agreement to be binding if “signed by the parties and their counsel” was added via a 2009 amendment to the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. *See Smith v. Fedor*, 422 S.C. 118, 125, 809 S.E.2d 612, 615 (Ct. App. 2017). In this

¹⁵ *Buckley*, 370 S.C. at 322, 635 S.E.2d at 78 n.2 (“Rule 43(k)’s terms are mandatory . . .”).

regard, the plain and unambiguous language of the rule (as well as of the Note to the 2009 Amendment) expressly requires both all *parties and their counsel* to sign an agreement before it is binding. To deem this provision of Rule 43(k) satisfied by an attorney’s signature “on behalf of” the client as agent is to effectively rewrite the rule so as only to require counsel’s signature. The attorney for a party will of course always be the party’s agent. Consistent with its purpose—which is “to prevent disputes as to the existence and terms of agreements regarding pending litigation”¹⁶—the Rule 43(k) plainly calls for the “belt and suspenders” approach here, i.e., it calls for the agreement (if it is to be binding) to be signed for *both* by the party’s counsel *and* by the party themselves. Here again, to allow such surrogacy to satisfy Rule 43(k) is to turn to improper principles to vitiate the “mandatory”¹⁷ nature of its terms. *Chen*, 430 S.C. at 521, 846 S.E.2d at 866.

B. Even on its own terms (i.e., even assuming, arguendo, its view of Rule 43(k) does not erroneously vitiate the plain and mandatory terms of the rule, as is raised/argued via Question/Argument I.A.), the Court of Appeals misapplied the authorities it cited regarding the ability of one person to sign for another.

The authorities that the Court of Appeals cites include the propositions that, for the signature of one person to be accomplished by the hand of another, the

¹⁶ *Chen*, 430 S.C. at 519, 846 S.E.2d at 866; *see also id.* at 521, 846 S.E.2d at 867 (“The purpose of Rule 43(k) and its predecessors is the avoidance of uncertainty.”).

¹⁷ *Buckley*, 370 S.C. at 322, 635 S.E.2d at 78 n.2 (“Rule 43(k)’s terms are mandatory . . .”).

signature must be done at the contemporaneous direction or request of the person whose name is being signed, and even in that person’s physical presence—indeed, the only South Carolina authority the Court of Appeals cites, *Sharpe v. Sharpe*, speaks in terms of both physical present and contemporaneous direction. (Subject Opinion (“*Signature*, *Black’s Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019) (defining signature as ‘a person’s name or mark written by that person *or at the person’s direction*’); 80 C.J.S. *Signatures* § 13 (2000) (‘Generally, a signature may be made for a person by the hand of another, *acting in the presence of such person, and at his direction, or request*, or with his acquiescence, unless a statute provides otherwise. A signature of this type becomes the signature of the person for whom it is made, and it has the same validity as though written by him. (footnotes omitted)); *Matter of Estate of Moore*, 390 P.3d 551, 557 (Kan. Ct. App. 2017) (‘The amanuensis rule provides that ‘[a] signature to an instrument may be attached by . . . the hand of another, at *the request of a party*’ (alterations in original) (quoting *Kadota Fig Ass’n. of Producers v. Case-Swayne Co.*, 167 P.2d 523, 526 (Cal. Ct. App. 1946)), *aff’d*, 448 P.3d 425 (Kan. 2019); *Lukey v. Smith*, 365 P.2d 487, 488 (Nev. 1961) (recognizing the ‘approval in virtually every jurisdiction of the United States of the [amanuensis] rule’ and that the ‘rule is so uniformly recognized that we would add nothing to the law by quoting or even citing the various texts and hundreds of cases’); *Sharpe v. Sharpe*, 105 S.C. 459, 465, 90 S.E. 34, 35 (1916) (noting that ‘when Watson Justus

signed the name of Jefferson, *in the presence of Jefferson, and by his direction*, that was a signing by Jefferson’); *Kadota Fig Ass'n of Producers*, 167 P.2d at 527 (noting a ‘signature is valid and binding when the authorization to sign the instrument is *conveyed directly* to the amanuensis by telephone’).”) (emphasis added.) The mere and generalized (and supposed) permission with which Mr. dos Santos’s name was signed to the settlement agreement was not accompanied by any contemporaneous direction or request of Mr. dos Santos, and certainly not in his physical presence.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. dos Santos asks this Honorable Court to grant the instant petition, reverse the Subject Opinion, render its own decision finding that the settlement agreement is unenforceable and reversing the trial court's enforcement thereof, and remanding this case to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with the same.