**RECEIVED**

**Jun 13 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000498  
Case No. 2015-CP-26-05573

---

K.A. Diehl and Associates, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

James Perkins, Colleen Franke a/k/a Colleen Franke Perkins,  
Mark Dos Santos, William Moore, Steven Dame  
and Errol Dos Santos,

Defendants,

Of whom Mark Dos Santos is the

Petitioner.

---

**RESPONDENT'S RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

James K. Gilliam  
BURR & FORMAN LLP  
Post Office Box 447  
Greenville, SC 29602

Henrietta U. Golding

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Whether Any Special and Important Reasons Exist to Justify Granting Certiorari.
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals Correctly Held the Agreement Complies with Rule 43(k).
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals Analysis is Correct Regarding Signatures by One for Another.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties in this case attended mediation for approximately fifteen hours on May 1, 2017. (R. p. 115). All Defendants and their counsel were physically present at mediation, with the exception of Mark Dos Santos (“Petitioner”), whose absence was unexpected. (R. p. 119). At the very beginning of mediation, the mediator, Karl A. Folkens, asked all parties and counsel if they desired to proceed with Petitioner participating by telephone, and all parties and counsel—including Petitioner and his three attorneys—agreed. (R. p. 119).

Petitioner actively participated in all aspects of mediation, including joint sessions with all parties and closed sessions with only his co-Defendants. (R. p. 119). After fifteen hours, the parties reached an agreement. (R. p. 119). The parties reduced their mediated settlement agreement (“Agreement”) to writing and counsel for Petitioner read the operative provisions of the Agreement to Petitioner over the telephone. (R. p. 120). One of Petitioner’s three attorneys executed the Agreement on Petitioner’s behalf, signing it “with permission.” (R. pp. 16, 120).

The parties intended for the Agreement to be enforceable as a standalone document. This is clear from the language in the Agreement, which states, “The parties intend for this Agreement to be enforceable by the Court, and if any material term is omitted, the Court shall determine what is reasonable rather than voiding this Agreement.” (R. p. 126). The Agreement contemplated that the parties would execute a “more comprehensive mutual release” following mediation. (*Id.*). In accord with this provision, the attorneys circulated a “more comprehensive mutual release” for execution by the parties. (R. pp. 118-23, 134-83). Petitioner alone refused to sign it. (*Id.*). Petitioner argued the Agreement was unenforceable because it did not comply with Rule 43(k) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

On October 18, 2017, Respondent K.A. Diehl and Associates, Inc. (“K.A. Diehl”) filed a Motion to Enforce Settlement. (R. pp. 118-273). The circuit court granted the motion and articulated two reasons for its ruling: (1) Rule 43(k) was inapplicable to the Agreement because Rule 43(k) applied only to agreements “between counsel”; and (2) Even if Rule 43(k) applied, the Rule was satisfied because all parties signed the Agreement, either personally or through a designated agent. (R. p. 13). The circuit court further observed that Petitioner presented no evidence that the permission he gave to his counsel to execute the Agreement was lacking or withdrawn. (R. pp. 12-13).

Thereafter, Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e) motion on March 31, 2018. (R. pp. 108-114, 291-301). The circuit court denied the motion, and then, Petitioner appealed.

On December 22, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming the circuit court’s order as modified. *K.A. Diehl & Assocs., Inc. v. Perkins*, Op. No. 2021-UP-454 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 22, 2021). The Court of Appeals determined the Agreement complied with Rule 43(k). Specifically, the Court observed that Petitioner attended the mediation by telephone, and Petitioner’s name was signed on the Agreement by his attorney with the words “with permission” following the signature. Further, the Court found Petitioner presented no evidence that his attorney signed the Agreement without permission. After citing to numerous authorities regarding the validity of signatures for one by another with permission, the Court determined Petitioner’s attorney had actual authority to sign the Agreement, and therefore, the Court concluded that the circuit court correctly granted Petitioner’s Motion to Enforce Settlement. Petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing on February 9, 2022, which the Court denied on March 23, 2022. This petition for writ of certiorari followed.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether to enforce a settlement agreement is within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Rock Smith Chevrolet, Inc. v. Smith*, 309 S.C. 91, 93, 419 S.E.2d 841, 842 (Ct. App. 1992). When interpreting the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, courts apply the same rules of construction as they do to statutes. *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 620, 591 S.E.2d 26, 27 (2003). Interpretation of a statute is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v. Dennis*, 425 S.C. 193, 198, 821 S.E.2d 667, 669 (2018).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. No Special and Important Reasons Exist to Justify Granting Certiorari.**

There are no “special and important” reasons to grant certiorari.

A writ of certiorari “is not a matter of right,” and it “will be granted *only* where there are *special and important reasons*.” Rule 242(b), SCACR (emphasis added). While the Rule does not attempt to list all of the “special and important reasons” that might exist to justify granting certiorari, the Rule identifies five examples to illustrate the “character of reasons” “which will be considered” when determining whether to grant certiorari. *Id.* Those five reasons are:

1. Where there are novel questions of law.
2. Where there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals.
3. Where the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court.
4. Where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved.

5. Where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court.

*Id.*

None of the reasons identified by Rule 242(b) as special and important are present here. This case involves a question of whether the circuit court, in its sound discretion, erred when it enforced a settlement agreement signed by a party's attorney with the party's express permission. In the petition, Petitioner argues the Agreement violates Rule 43(k) because the Petitioner did not physically sign the Agreement by his own hand. Petitioner claims his attorney could not execute the Agreement for him and comply with Rule 43(k). Essentially, Petitioner argues the law of agency does not apply to Rule 43(k).

This case does not involve a novel question of law. At first blush, it seems to be about Rule 43(k), but that is only nominally true. This case is really about agency law, and what powers an attorney has to settle a case on behalf of his client. This is a settled area of the law. *See Crowley v. Harvey & Battey, P.A.*, 327 S.C. 68, 70, 488 S.E.2d 334, 334–35 (1997) (“In South Carolina, an attorney may settle litigation on behalf of his client, and absent fraud or mistake, such a settlement is binding on the client .... This rule is based on principles of agency law.”).

The Court of Appeals' opinion fits neatly with established precedent about agency law. While there have been a number of cases dealing with Rule 43(k) over the last several years, the Court of Appeals' decision does nothing to conflict with any of those decisions. For example, Petitioner places much emphasis on this Court's recent opinion in *S.C. Human Affairs Commission v. Zeyi Chen*. 430 S.C. 509, 846 S.E.2d 861 (2020). However, *Zeyi Chen* does not hold that one's attorney is unable to sign a settlement agreement for him. Thus, contrary to the

assertions by Petitioner, neither *Zeyi Chen*, nor any other case dealing with Rule 43(k) demand a different result here.

None of the other reasons identified in Rule 242 are present either. There was no dissent in the Court of Appeals' decision; there are no constitutional issues; and there are no federal questions.

As a result, this case does not raise the "special and important reasons" necessary to grant certiorari. Accordingly, this Court should deny the petition.

## **II. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held the Agreement Complies with Rule 43(k).**

Rule 43(k) governs agreements between counsel. According to the Rule, one way for such an agreement to be binding is for it to be "signed by the parties and their counsel." Rule 43(k), SCRCP. The issue here is whether a party's attorney can sign a settlement agreement for him and comply with Rule 43(k).

Petitioner takes an extreme view of Rule 43(k). He argues Rule 43(k) compliance can only occur by a party's physical signature made by his hand. Petitioner argues, "Proper Rule 43(k) analysis leaves no room for any consideration of whether [Petitioner's] name was signed on the settlement agreement with or without permission." (Pet. for Writ of Cert., p. 12). In Petitioner's view, an attorney could never sign for a party pursuant to Rule 43(k) because to do so would "effectively rewrite the rule so as only to require counsel's signature." (Pet. for Writ of Cert., p. 13).

The plain language of Rule 43(k) does not support Petitioner's extreme view of the Rule. Nothing in the Rule prohibits a party from acting through an agent, and nothing about a settlement agreement is more significant or special than many of the acts an agent can complete for a principal. A settlement agreement is simply a contract, and an agent can sign a contract

for a principal.<sup>1</sup> See *Koutsogiannis v. BB & T*, 365 S.C. 145, 149-50, 616 S.E.2d 425, 428 (2005) (holding a client could be held liable for its attorney-agent’s “actions taken within his scope of representation, including possible torts committed by him.”); *Miller v. Dillon*, 432 S.C. 197, 206, 851 S.E.2d 462, 467 (Ct. App. 2020) (“In South Carolina jurisprudence, settlement agreements are viewed as contracts.”); *S.C. Ins. Co. v. James C. Greene & Co.*, 290 S.C. 171, 183, 348 S.E.2d 617, 624 (Ct. App. 1986) (“An agent contracting with the authority of his principal binds him to the same extent as if the principal personally made the contract.”); *State Bank v. Johnson*, 8 S.C.L. 404, 203 (S.C. Const. App. 1817) (“The agent has authority to bind the principal...”).<sup>2</sup> Recognizing these principles, the Court of Appeals correctly found Petitioner did “sign” the agreement—through his counsel.

There is no evidence in the record to demonstrate that Petitioner’s attorney lacked permission to sign his name to the Agreement, so that point is not at issue; the only issue before this Court is whether the method of Petitioner’s signature was valid in order to satisfy the requirements of Rule 43(k). Stated differently, if certiorari were granted, the ultimate issue would be whether an attorney can sign an agreement on behalf of his client with the express permission of his client. The law of agency answers this question in the affirmative, and Rule 43(k) does not do anything to obviate the rules of agency.

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner conceded in his Memorandum in Opposition to K.A. Diehl’s Motion to Enforce Settlement that “an attorney’s role is, by definition, one of agency alone.” (R. p. 294).

<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, if Rule 43(k) were intended to eviscerate the law of agency, it would also nullify any import behind Rule 6(b), SCADR, which permits parties to attend a mediation in some way other than being physically present when agreed to by the mediator and all parties. See Rule 6(b), SCADR (“The following persons shall physically attend a mediation settlement conference *unless otherwise agreed to by the mediator and all parties....*”) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly found the Agreement complied with Rule 43(k).

### **III. The Court of Appeals' Analysis is Correct Regarding Signatures by One for Another.**

Petitioner next questions the cases cited by the Court of Appeals regarding one signing for another. Petitioner argues the cases cited by the Court of Appeals require the signature to be completed at the contemporaneous direction of one, and likely also only in his physical presence, in order for another to be able to sign on his behalf. (Pet. for Writ of Cert., pp. 13-15). Petitioner's arguments reflect a misapprehension of the law and a misunderstanding of the facts.

First and foremost, the Court of Appeals held Petitioner failed to provide any evidence that his attorney signed Petitioner's name without his permission during the mediation. Thus, the Court found there was no evidence that Petitioner's consent was not contemporaneous with his attorney's signature of Petitioner's name. Furthermore, the authorities to which the Court of Appeals cited stand for the simple proposition that when one signs for and with the permission of another, that signature is valid. *See, e.g., Signature, Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019) (defining "signature" as "a person's name or mark written...at the person's direction"); 80 C.J.S. *Signatures* § 13 (2000) (noting "a signature may be made for a person by the hand of another...with his acquiescence...."). Petitioner's attempt to emphasize different language in the cases cited by the Court is of no significance and does not add to this commonly accepted rule.

Without citing to any evidence in the record, Petitioner asserts, "The mere and generalized (and supposed) permission with which [Petitioner's] name was signed to the settlement agreement was not accompanied by any contemporaneous direction or request of

[Petitioner], and certainly not in his physical presence.” (Pet. for Writ of Cert., p. 15). As much as Petitioner may wish to insinuate a lack of permission to sign his name now, Petitioner never raised this issue to the circuit court, and Petitioner never offered any evidence to support this assertion.<sup>3</sup> See *Crawford v. Henderson*, 356 S.C. 389, 409, 589 S.E.2d 204, 215 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding an argument not presented to the trial judge was unpreserved for appellate review); see also *Encore Tech. Grp., LLC v. Trask*, Op. No. 5871 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed Nov. 24, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 41 at 28) (“[A]rguments of counsel are not evidence....”).

Also, Petitioner’s arguments disregards the facts. After all, Petitioner *was* present at the mediation by telephone, and Petitioner provided his attorney permission to sign on his behalf. This is all expressly permitted under the South Carolina Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules. See Rule 6(b), SCADR (allowing physical attendance of parties to be waived if agreed to by the mediator and all parties); Rule 2(m), SCADR (“For purposes of these rules, the reference to sign or signing shall include...*electronic consent*.”) (emphasis added).

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari.